FILED
8-20-15
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 73027-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

VINCENT WILLIAM BARBEE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The State did not prove the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

To prove the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused knowingly possessed a firearm. Did the State fail to prove the elements of the crime, where a firearm was found in a locked box in the trunk of a car that Vincent Barbee was driving, but Mr. Barbee did not own the car, and he never handled the firearm and did not know it was in the trunk?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 28, 2014, at around noon, a group of law enforcement officers were searching in the Marysville area for Vincent Barbee in order to arrest him on several outstanding warrants. 10/27/14RP 71. Officers spotted Mr. Barbee driving a green Pontiac Grand Am. His girlfriend, Jennifer Olson, was in the front passenger seat. 10/27/14RP 72. Officers watched Mr. Barbee drive into the parking lot of an AM/PM convenience store, then exit the car and enter the store. 10/27/14RP 72.

Officers waited for Mr. Barbee to exit the store and walk back toward the car. Then they approached him and yelled, "Police." 10/27/14RP 74, 87-88. Mr. Barbee spun around, looked at them, yelled, "Oh, shit," and "took off running." 10/27/14RP 74, 87-88. Mr. Barbee was aware that he was wanted on warrants and would be arrested and go to jail if apprehended by law enforcement. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 26-27. He ran across the street but was soon detained and handcuffed. Officers drove him back to where the Grand Am was parked. 10/27/14RP 74-75.

The Grand Am was "extremely cluttered," with numerous bags and loose items of clothing and other miscellaneous items strewn throughout the car. 10/27/14RP 108; 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 19, 49. Most of the couple's belongings were in the car because they had no permanent residence. They would stay with friends for a few nights, then move to someone else's house for a few nights. 10/27/14RP 97, 117. They used the car to transport their belongings from one house to the next. 10/27/14RP 97, 117.

The officers told Mr. Barbee they were going to search the car but he said it was not his car and he did not want them to search it. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 11. The car was not registered to Mr. Barbee but to

“Jacob Conyers.” 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 38, 76. Mr. Barbee and Ms. Olson were in the process of purchasing the car from Mr. Conyers, paying him \$100 per month. 10/27/14RP 107, 114. The couple had been using the car for about one month at that point. 10/27/14RP 115; 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 17. Both Mr. Barbee and Ms. Olson drove the car, and each had a set of keys. 10/27/14RP 115-16. Mr. Conyers also continued to use the car on occasion, and sometimes Ms. Olson let her sister-in-law drive it. 10/27/14RP 114-16.

Despite Mr. Barbee’s refusal to consent to a search, the officers searched the car anyway. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 28. The trunk was cluttered with clothing, shoes and other miscellaneous items, like the rest of the car. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 32, 40. Inside the trunk among the clutter, the officers found a small locked box. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 32. The box was not immediately visible on first glance but was tucked in the corner behind the wheel well and obscured by other items. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 39-40. Lying next to the lockbox was a green file folder containing various documents with Mr. Barbee’s name on them. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 32-33, 53-54.

The box was locked and the officers could not find a key to open it, although they tried several loose keys that were lying on the

floor of the car. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 41, 50-51. One of the officers grabbed a knife from the floor and used it to jimmy open the lock.

10/28/14(a.m.)RP 50. Inside the box the officer found a small handgun and one round of .22 caliber ammunition. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 35, 52.

Mr. Barbee said the gun was not his. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 11-12.

Ms. Olson had never seen the lockbox before and did not know about the gun inside. 10/27/14RP 119-20.

Both the lockbox and the handgun were tested for fingerprints and DNA. One fingerprint was lifted from the top of the lockbox but it was determined not to be Mr. Barbee's. 10/28/14(p.m.)RP 15-16. No fingerprints suitable for comparison were found on the handgun.

10/28/14(p.m.)RP 16. A mixture of DNA from at least three individuals, both male and female, was found on the outside of the lockbox. 10/28/14(p.m.)RP 29, 36. The forensic examiner could not determine whether the mixture contained Mr. Barbee's DNA.

10/28/14(p.m.)RP 31. Likewise, a mixture of DNA from at least three individuals, both male and female, was found on the handgun.

10/28/14(p.m.)RP 31, 36. Again, Mr. Barbee could be neither included nor excluded from the sample. 10/28/14(p.m.)RP 31.

Despite the equivocal evidence, Mr. Barbee was charged with one count of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 79. At trial, the parties stipulated he had a prior conviction for a “serious offense.”¹ CP 55, 70, 72-73. The jury found Mr. Barbee guilty as charged. CP 20, 44.

E. ARGUMENT

The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Barbee knowingly possessed the gun in the lockbox

To prove the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, the State was required to prove that Mr. Barbee “knowingly had a firearm in his possession or control.” CP 56; RCW 9.41.040(1)(a).

Constitutional due process required the State to prove these elements beyond a reasonable doubt.² See Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 477, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); In re

¹ As an element of the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, the State was required to prove that Mr. Barbee had a previous conviction for a “serious offense.” RCW 9.41.040(1)(a); CP 56.

² In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. To find the elements beyond a reasonable doubt, the trier of fact must “reach a subjective state of near certitude of the guilt of the accused.” Jackson, 443 U.S. at 315.

On review, the Court presumes the truth of the State’s evidence and draws all reasonable inferences from it. State v. Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. 789, 796, 137 P.3d 892 (2006). But the existence of a fact cannot rest upon guess, speculation, or conjecture. Id.

1. *The State did not prove Mr. Barbee had dominion and control over the gun because it was in a locked box for which he did not have a key; he never handled the gun and could not easily reduce it to actual possession; and he did not own or have exclusive control over the car in which the gun was found*

Possession can be actual or constructive. State v. Staley, 123 Wn.2d 794, 798, 872 P.2d 502 (1994). Actual possession requires the item be in the actual, physical custody of the person charged with the crime. State v. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d 27, 29, 459 P.2d 400 (1969). Here, Mr. Barbee did not have actual physical custody of the gun. Thus, the State was required to prove he had constructive possession of it.

Constructive possession involves “dominion and control” over the item. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d at 29. Constructive possession is established by viewing the totality of the circumstances. State v. Turner, 103 Wn. App. 515, 522-23, 13 P.3d 234 (2000). The fact that a person has dominion and control over the premises where contraband is found is only one of the circumstances from which constructive possession can be inferred; it is not alone sufficient to prove constructive possession. State v. Shumaker, 142 Wn. App. 330, 334, 174 P.3d 1214 (2007); State v. Olivarez, 63 Wn. App. 484, 486, 820 P.2d 66 (1991). “It is not a crime to have dominion and control over the premises where the substance is found.” Olivarez, 63 Wn. App. at 486. The State must present additional evidence to prove dominion and control of the contraband.

Although exclusive control of the contraband is not a prerequisite to establishing constructive possession, mere proximity of the contraband to the defendant is insufficient to show dominion and control. State v. Enlow, 143 Wn. App. 463, 469, 178 P.3d 366 (2008). If there is no evidence to show the defendant ever actually handled the contraband, this is a significant factor weighing against a finding of constructive possession. Id. Also relevant is whether the defendant

had *the ability* to reduce the item to actual possession. Turner, 103 Wn. App. at 521. “Dominion and control means that the object may be reduced to actual possession immediately.” State v. Jones, 146 Wn.2d 328, 333, 45 P.3d 1062 (2002).

In Enlow, police officers found Enlow under a blanket in the canopy part of a truck. Enlow, 143 Wn. App. at 465. A search of the truck revealed methamphetamine and the materials used to make methamphetamine. Id. During the search, officers found identification cards bearing Mr. Enlow’s name and property with his fingerprints on it. Id. But his fingerprints were not found on items containing methamphetamine or items used to manufacture it. Id. Enlow did not own the truck or the house where it was parked. Id. at 469. Under the totality of the circumstances, the evidence was insufficient to prove Enlow had dominion and control over the contraband contained in the truck. Id. at 470.

By contrast, if the defendant owned or was driving the vehicle in which the contraband was found, knew of the presence of the contraband or admitted it was his, and could easily reduce the contraband to actual possession, the circumstances are likely sufficient to prove constructive possession. In Turner, for instance, Turner

admitted the truck he was driving was his, and knew of the rifle's presence in an open case on the back seat. Turner, 103 Wn. App. at 521-22. The rifle was within arm's reach and he could easily reduce it to his actual possession. Id. These circumstances were sufficient to prove Turner possessed or controlled the rifle Id.

Likewise, in Jones, Jones was driving a car in which his girlfriend was a passenger. Jones, 146 Wn.2d at 331. Police found a firearm inside the girlfriend's purse. Id. The evidence was sufficient to prove that Jones had constructive possession of the firearm, but not simply because he exercised control over the car and its contents. Jones also stored items in the purse and admitted the gun in the purse was his. Id. at 333. Under the totality of the circumstances, the evidence was sufficient to show Jones exercised control over the items he stored in the purse. Id.

In this case, ownership of the car that Mr. Barbee was driving is one factor to consider when assessing whether he had constructive possession of the gun found in the trunk. See Enlow, 143 Wn. App. at 469. It is undisputed that Mr. Barbee *did not* own the car. It was registered to someone else. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 38, 76. Mr. Barbee and his girlfriend were in the process of purchasing the car from the owner,

and had been using it for about one month at the time of Mr. Barbee's arrest. 10/27/14RP 107, 114-15; 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 17. The fact that Mr. Barbee did not own the car weighs against a finding that he had control over the gun found in the trunk. See Enlow, 143 Wn. App. at 469.

But even if the evidence is sufficient to show that Mr. Barbee had dominion and control over the car, despite the fact he did not own it, that is still not sufficient to show he had dominion and control over an item contained in a locked box in the trunk. Shumaker, 142 Wn. App. at 334; Olivarez, 63 Wn. App. at 486. Mr. Barbee did not have exclusive control of the car. His girlfriend also used the car regularly and had a set of keys to it. 10/27/14RP 97-98, 116. The owner of the car, as well as Ms. Olson's sister-in-law, drove the car on occasion. 10/27/14RP 114-17.

Other factors that must be considered to determine whether Mr. Barbee had control over the gun include whether he ever actually handled it, and whether he had the ability to take actual possession of it immediately. Jones, 146 Wn.2d at 333; Enlow, 143 Wn. App. at 469; Turner, 103 Wn. App. at 521. These factors weigh heavily against a finding that Mr. Barbee had control of the gun.

There is no evidence that Mr. Barbee ever handled the gun or the lockbox, although other people did. One fingerprint was lifted from the top of the lockbox but it was not Mr. Barbee's. 10/28/14(p.m.)RP 15-16. Likewise, Mr. Barbee's fingerprints were not found on the gun. 10/28/14(p.m.)RP 16. DNA from at least three individuals—both male and female—was found on both the gun and the lockbox. 10/28/14(p.m.)RP 29, 31, 36. But there is no evidence that Mr. Barbee's DNA was included in the mixture. 10/28/14(p.m.)RP 31, 36. It is pure speculation to say that Mr. Barbee ever handled the gun or the lockbox. The State may not rely upon speculation or conjecture to prove this essential fact. Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. at 796.

Moreover, the evidence shows that Mr. Barbee *could not* easily reduce the gun to his immediate, actual possession. The gun was contained in a locked box in the trunk of the car. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 32-33, 35-36. Mr. Barbee did not have a key to the box, and no key was found anywhere in the car. 10/27/14RP 76-77, 119; 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 41. Mr. Barbee could not have immediately accessed the gun.

The deputy prosecutor argued in closing argument that Mr. Barbee had control of the gun because a file folder containing documents bearing his name was sitting next to the lockbox in the car,

and because he carried other personal belongings in the car. 10/28/14(p.m.)RP 62-63. But whether Mr. Barbee carried personal belongings in the car does not establish that he had control or possession of an item in the car that he never actually handled. See Enlow, 143 Wn. App. at 465, 469. Again, “mere proximity alone is not enough to infer constructive possession.” Id. at 469.

In sum, the State did not prove Mr. Barbee had dominion and control of the gun. He did not own the car in which the gun was found; he did not have exclusive possession of the car; he never actually handled either the gun or the lockbox, although at least two other people did; and he could not easily reduce the gun to his immediate, actual possession. Under the totality of the circumstances, the evidence was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Barbee had constructive possession of the firearm. Jones, 146 Wn.2d at 333; Enlow, 143 Wn. App. at 469; Shumaker, 142 Wn. App. at 334; Turner, 103 Wn. App. at 521; Olivarez, 63 Wn. App. at 486.

2. *The State did not prove Mr. Barbee knew the gun was in the trunk*

An essential element of the crime of unlawful possession of a firearm is that the defendant knew he possessed a firearm. State v. Anderson, 141 Wn.2d 357, 366, 5 P.3d 1247 (2000); CP 56. “A person

knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge with respect to a fact or circumstance when he is aware of that fact or circumstance.” CP 58; RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b)(i). In addition, “[i]f a person has information that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that a fact exists, the jury is permitted but not required to find that he acted with knowledge of that fact.” CP 58; RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b)(ii).

Knowledge may be inferred when the defendant’s conduct indicates the requisite knowledge “as a matter of logical probability.” State v. Warfield, 119 Wn. App. 871, 884, 80 P.3d 625 (2003). But although knowledge may be inferred from the surrounding facts and circumstances, it may *not* be inferred from evidence that is “patently equivocal.” See State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 8, 309 P.3d 318 (2013).

Here, the evidence was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Barbee knew a firearm was present in the trunk of the car. The firearm was contained in a locked box in a cluttered trunk, placed among many other miscellaneous items. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 32, 40. The box was not immediately visible on first glance but was tucked in the corner behind the wheel well and obscured

by other items. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 39-40. Even if Mr. Barbee was aware of the box, there is no evidence he knew what was inside of it.

In State v. Echeverria, 85 Wn. App. 777, 783, 934 P.2d 1214 (1997), the Court concluded the evidence was sufficient to show Echeverria knew the gun was present under his car seat because it was “in plain sight at Mr. Echeverria's feet and the reasonable inference [was] that he therefore knew it was there.”

Here, by contrast, the gun was not in “plain sight.” It was contained in a locked box inside the trunk of the car. Mr. Barbee did not have a key to the box and there is no evidence he ever opened the box or knew what was inside it. 10/28/14(p.m.)RP 15-16, 29, 31, 36. This evidence is insufficient to show he had actual knowledge of the presence of the gun. It is also insufficient to show that a reasonable person in the same situation would know that a gun was hidden inside the box. See CP 58; RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b)(ii).

In closing argument, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Barbee’s decision to run when confronted by police officers in the parking lot demonstrated “consciousness of guilt.” 10/28/14(p.m.)RP 61. But that evidence is “patently equivocal.” See Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d at 8. Mr. Barbee knew he was wanted on warrants and would be arrested and go

to jail if apprehended by law enforcement. 10/28/14(a.m.)RP 26-27.
That is a reasonable, and likely, explanation for his decision to run from the officers when they confronted him. It is purely speculation to conclude that he ran because he knew there was a firearm in the trunk, when there is no other evidence to show he had knowledge of the firearm.

The evidence was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Barbee knew a firearm was present in the trunk. The State failed to prove an essential element of the crime. See Anderson, 141 Wn.2d at 366.

F. CONCLUSION

Because the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Barbee knowingly possessed the firearm, the conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm must be reversed.