FILED Oct 28, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73027-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

٧.

VINCENT WILLIAM BARBEE,

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREW E. ALSDORF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

The defendant argues there was insufficient evidence to find him guilty of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree. Evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction if after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom" State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). All reasonable inferences are drawn in favor of the verdict, and most strongly against the defendant. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 597, 888 P.2d 1105, cert denied, 516 U.S. 843 (1995). Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). Appellate courts defer to the fact finder on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

In order to convict the defendant of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree the jury had to find beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That on or about July 28, 2014, the defendant knowingly had a firearm in his possession or control;

(2) That the defendant had been previously convicted of a serious offense; and

(3) That the possession or control of the firearm occurred in the State of Washington.

1 CP 56.

The jury was instructed that a person acts "knowingly" with respect to a fact or circumstance if he is aware of that fact or circumstance, but they were also instructed that if a reasonable person in the same situation would have been aware of the same fact, they were permitted but not required to conclude that the defendant acted knowingly. WPIC 10.02; 1 CP 58. The court also further defined "possession" using a modified version of WPIC 50.03, which allowed the jury to consider the following nonexclusive factors in determining whether the defendant constructively possessed the handgun due to his dominion and control over it:

- Whether the defendant had the ability to take actual possession of the item,
- Whether the defendant had the capacity to exclude others from possession of the item, and

 Whether the defendant had dominion and control over the premises where the item was located. CP 59.

A. EVIDENCE OF DOMINION AND CONTROL.

The State's theory was that the defendant had constructive possession of the firearm due to his dominion and control over it. Dominion and control is determined from the totality of the situation, and may be proved through the cumulative effect of a number of factors; no single factor is dispositive. State v. Partin, 88 Wn.2d 899, 906, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977). For example, in State v. Partin the court found sufficient evidence of dominion and control from the cumulative effect of the defendant's "far from casual" connection to the home where the contraband was found, the presence in that home of bank documents and correspondence in the defendant's name, and a prior police incident in which the defendant spoke for the entire household when officers investigated a noise complaint about the house. Id. at 907-908. Dominion and control need not be exclusive to establish constructive possession. 1 CP 59; State v. Amezola, 49 Wn. App. 78, 86, 741 P.2d 1024 (1987).

In this case the jury had ample evidence to support each of the non-exclusive dominion and control factors listed in the jury instructions. The defendant's ability to take actual possession of the

handgun was demonstrated through the testimony of Deputy Woodruff, who was able to open the lockbox and access the gun by using a knife that he found on the floorboard of the defendant's vehicle. 4 RP 51. The defendant therefore had access to the same knife and could have used it to open the lockbox in the same gentle manner that Deputy Woodruff employed. The defendant also clearly had access to the key to the trunk containing the lockbox. The process of accessing the knife on the floor, opening the trunk, and opening the lockbox would have taken very little time at all, entitling a reasonable juror to conclude that the defendant did have the ability to gain physical custody of the gun.

The evidence also supported a reasonable inference that the defendant could have prevented others from accessing the gun. In fact, the gun was stored in such a way to accomplish that very task. The gun was enclosed within a locked metal box, within a lockable metal trunk, yet easily transportable because it was stored in an automobile. The defendant controlled all three of those access-preventing features due to his actual possession of the car, which in turn contained the gun and two layers of lockable metal containers (lockbox, trunk). While it is true that Jennifer Olson had the only other set of keys to the vehicle and therefore could have

accessed the gun (or prevented access) in the same way, a reasonable fact finder could justifiably conclude that the defendant had the ability to prevent everyone except Jennifer Olson from accessing the gun. This conclusion was supported by the evidence and leads to a permissible but rebuttable inference of the defendant's dominion and control over the gun. WPIC 50.03; 1 CP 59.

Third, the evidence was replete with indications that the defendant exercised dominion and control over the premises in which the gun was found – the green Pontiac Grand Am he drove to the gas station. The fact that he drove the vehicle and possessed the keys was uncontroverted. 3 RP 72, 116. A defendant's sole occupancy and possession of a vehicle's keys sufficiently supports a finding that the defendant had dominion and control over all of the vehicle's contents. <u>State v. Bowen</u>, 157 Wn. App. 821, 828, 239 P.3d 1114 (2010); <u>State v. Dodd</u>, 8 Wn. App. 269, 274, 505 P.2d 830 (1973); <u>State v. Potts</u>, 1 Wn. App. 614, 464 P.2d 742 (1969). In this case the defendant was not the sole occupant of the vehicle, but the only other occupant (Ms. Olson) told the police she didn't know what was in the vehicle's trunk. 3 RP 112-113. By the time she testified at trial, Ms. Olson believed the trunk contained only

speakers and bank information. <u>Id</u>. at 108. Her statement to the police that "Only Vince has been in the trunk," though hearsay, was admitted without objection or any request for a limiting instruction. <u>Id</u>., at 112-113. Hearsay statements admitted without objection are competent evidence sufficient to support a finding that the statement is true. <u>See State v. Rochelle</u>, 11 Wn. App. 887, 889, 527 P.2d 87 (1974). The jury was entitled to determine that Ms. Olson's statement to the police was more accurate than her testimony at trial, meaning that her presence in the vehicle should not have altered the well-settled legal principle that a vehicle's sole occupant with possession of the vehicle's keys constructively possesses everything else in the vehicle.

The evidence further showed that the defendant and Ms. Olson had entered into an agreement to purchase the vehicle from the registered owner for \$1000, paid in ten monthly installments of \$100 each. <u>Id</u>. at 114. This financial arrangement is not substantially different than anyone who takes out a car loan and exerts daily control over the vehicle they have purchased, yet legal title remains with the bank or the car dealership until the loan is fully paid off. Therefore the defendant and his girlfriend were the true owners of the vehicle for all intents and purposes, and it was

reasonable for the jury to conclude as much. The defendant should not benefit from a technical argument that he was not yet the registered owner simply because he may have violated the law by failing to report his purchase of the vehicle. <u>See</u> RCW 46.12.250(7).

The defendant's dominion and control over the vehicle was so extensive, in fact, that he and Ms. Olson had transformed the vehicle into a storage vessel for most of their possessions, if not a de facto residence. 3 RP 117. The reason for using the car in this manner was because they did not feel their belongings were safe inside the various homes where the couple spent the night. Id. In other words, the pair felt that the lockable confines of their newlypurchased vehicle was the most effective place to protect their valuables from theft. From this evidence, plus the fact that the defendant and Ms. Olson were the only ones with keys to the vehicle, the jury was entitled to infer that the green Pontiac Grand Am was actually the one premises in the world over which the defendant exerted more thorough and exclusive control than any other premises. This inference naturally leads to the conclusion that the defendant constructively possessed every item inside the vehicle, including the gun.

B. EVIDENCE OF KNOWLEDGE.

The State also needed to prove that the defendant knew, or reasonably should have known, that he possessed the gun. 1 CP 58. Under the particular facts of this case, such a showing equates to proving that the defendant knew, or reasonably should have known, what was inside the black metal lockbox in the trunk of the defendant's vehicle. The prosecutor's closing argument highlighted the defendant's choice to run from the police when he first encountered them as "consciousness of guilt" evidence, supporting an inference that he knew about the gun and therefore wanted to physically separate himself from the prohibited firearm. 5 RP 61. The prosecutor connected the defendant's consciousness of guilt to his subsequent denial to the police that the car belonged to him or that he had ever accessed the trunk at all. Id. The defendant did not object to the argument, and both arguments were proper; "evidence of flight is admissible if it creates a reasonable and substantive inference that a defendant's departure from the scene was an instinctive or impulsive reaction to a consciousness of guilt or was a deliberate effort to evade arrest and prosecution. State v. Nichols, 5 Wn. App. 657, 660, 491 P.2d 677 (1971). It was reasonable for the jury to follow the prosecutor's suggestion that

the defendant's flight, combined with his minimization of his connection to the vehicle and his claim of never accessing the trunk, together supported the conclusion that the defendant's guilty conscience was directly related to his knowledge of contraband inside the car.

The defendant claims that the evidence of his flight was equivocal in nature because he also knew that he had warrants for his arrest, and that it was "purely speculation to conclude that he ran because he knew there was a firearm in the trunk." Br. App. 14-15. This claim ignores the defendant's efforts to convince the police that he had a minimal association with the vehicle, which should not have mattered if he was only concerned about his active warrants. To the contrary, the jury could have reasonably concluded that the defendant's minimization was directly related to the reason he chose to flee the police on foot rather than use his vehicle. The defendant's attempted analogy to State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 8, 309 P.3d 313 (2013), is therefore misplaced. Although the defendant asserts that Vasquez prohibits an inference of knowledge from evidence that is patently equivocal, the case actually prohibits an inference of intent to injure or defraud from evidence of mere possession in a forgery case. Id. Courts have

similarly held that *intent to deliver* controlled substances cannot be inferred from mere possession of the substance. <u>State v.</u> <u>O'Connor</u>, 155 Wn. App. 282, 290, 229 P.3d 880 (2010). But the State was not required to prove anything about the defendant's intent in this case; rather, the State needed only to prove that the defendant knew a gun was in the lockbox. The defendant's flight from officers, and his car, followed by his attempts to minimize his association with the car and its contents, is not patently equivocal evidence.

Case law supports the jury's finding of knowledge. A reasonable inference of knowledge of the item possessed can come from an extended period of control of the premises. <u>State v.</u> <u>Gerke</u>, 6 Wn. App. 137, 142, 491 P.2d 1316 (1971). Thus it was particularly relevant that the defendant tried to minimize his connection to the vehicle and the trunk when speaking with the officers, because his statements were contradicted by the evidence that he had possessed the green Grand Am for roughly one month and that he was the only one who accessed the trunk at all. 3 RP 112-113, 115.

Finally, the jury likely concluded from common experience that a reasonable person would necessarily know about a gun in

their own vehicle because of the dangerous yet valuable power of firearms. A gun with ammunition is an inherently valuable item, not necessarily because of its monetary worth, but because of its functional capabilities. A gun is a powerful object capable of fundamentally altering the dynamics of any situation, and its presence dramatically increases the chances that deadly force will be employed, whether accidentally or otherwise. This fact increases the likelihood that any reasonable person would have known about its presence in his own vehicle, a fact from which the jury was allowed to further infer that the defendant had knowledge of the gun in this case.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests that the Court affirm the defendant's conviction for Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree.